



Abstract

World Health Organization (WHO) policy on universal health coverage states that both rehabilitation and palliative care are essential components of quality health services and should be integrated within health systems using a multiprofessional workforce. Rehabilitation in palliative care can deliver many benefits for people and health systems but access to interventions is limited by a range of barriers including limited resource, siloed organization of services and attitudes of professionals and funders. While integrated rehabilitation has been achieved in high-income countries in health services for people with chronic long-term conditions or trauma, it remains underresourced and highly variable within palliative care services. This policy brief aims to understand how integrating rehabilitation in palliative care services may improve the quality, accessibility, effectiveness and cost-effectiveness of health services for people approaching end of life. It provides practical and actionable information and recommendations to support health ministers and leaders in health systems planning to integrate rehabilitation in palliative care services.

Document number: WHO/EURO:2023-5825-45590-68173

© World Health Organization 2023

Some rights reserved. This work is available under the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-ShareAlike 3.0 IGO licence (CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO; https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-sa/3.0/igo/).

Under the terms of this licence, you may copy, redistribute and adapt the work for noncommercial purposes, provided the work is appropriately cited, as indicated below. In any use of this work, there should be no suggestion that WHO endorses any specific organization, products or services. The use of the WHO logo is not permitted. If you adapt the work, then you must license your work under the same or equivalent Creative Commons licence. If you create a translation of this work, you should add the following disclaimer along with the suggested citation: "This translation was not created by the World Health Organization (WHO). WHO is not responsible for the content or accuracy of this translation. The original English edition shall be the binding and authentic edition: Policy brief on integrating rehabilitation into palliative care services. Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe; 2023".

Any mediation relating to disputes arising under the licence shall be conducted in accordance with the mediation rules of the World Intellectual Property Organization.

Suggested citation. Policy brief on integrating rehabilitation into palliative care services. Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe; 2023. Licence: CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO.

Cataloguing-in-Publication (CIP) data. CIP data are available at http://apps.who.int/iris.

Sales, rights and licensing. To purchase WHO publications, see http://apps.who.int/bookorders. To submit requests for commercial use and gueries on rights and licensing, see http://www.who.int/about/licensing.

Third-party materials. If you wish to reuse material from this work that is attributed to a third party, such as tables, figures or images, it is your responsibility to determine whether permission is needed for that reuse and to obtain permission from the copyright holder. The risk of claims resulting from infringement of any third-party-owned component in the work rests solely with the user.

General disclaimers. The designations employed and the presentation of the material in this publication do not imply the expression of any opinion whatsoever on the part of WHO concerning the legal status of any country, territory, city or area or of its authorities, or concerning the delimitation of its frontiers or boundaries. Dotted and dashed lines on maps represent approximate border lines for which there may not yet be full agreement. The mention of specific companies or of certain manufacturers' products does not imply that they are endorsed or recommended by WHO in preference to others of a similar nature that are not mentioned. Errors and omissions excepted, the names of proprietary products are distinguished by initial capital letters.

All reasonable precautions have been taken by WHO to verify the information contained in this publication. However, the published material is being distributed without warranty of any kind, either expressed or implied. The responsibility for the interpretation and use of the material lies with the reader. In no event shall WHO be liable for damages arising from its use.

Contents

Acknowledgements	iv
Abbreviations	iv
Background	1
Rehabilitation in palliative care	1
Opportunities to integrate rehabilitation into palliative care	3
Barriers and solutions for better integration of rehabilitation into palliative care	4
Policy options and opportunities for action to strengthen rehabilitation in palliative care	6
Case studies: rehabilitation in palliative care	8
 A centre of expertise for patients with complex chronic lung diseases with integrated rehabilitation care, Ciro, Horn, Netherlands 	9
 Integrated rehabilitation in outpatient palliative care, Vejle University Hospital, Vejle, Denmark 	10
 A cancer centre with a steadily expanding rehabilitation team, Fondazione IRCCS Istituto Nazionale dei Tumori, Milan, Italy 	11
Building rehabilitation into palliative care services in Czechia	12
 A palliative care centre with inpatient, outpatient and home-based specialist rehabilitative care, St Christopher's Hospice, London, United Kingdom 	13
References	14

Acknowledgements

This policy brief was conceptualized, reviewed and edited by Satish Mishra, Health Workforce and Service Delivery Unit, WHO Regional Office for Europe.

The policy brief was written by: Satish Mishra and Julie Ling, Health Workforce and Service Delivery Unit, WHO Regional Office for Europe; and Matthew Maddocks, Joanne Bayly, Charles Normand and Richard Harding, Cicely Saunders Institute of Palliative Care, Policy and Rehabilitation, King's College London and World Health Organization Collaborating Centre, London, United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland.

The WHO Regional Office for Europe gratefully acknowledges technical inputs to the case studies from Elisa Vanzulli, Maria Grazia Blandini, Augusto Caraceni and Alice Gallivanone of the Fondazione IRCCS Istituto Nazionale dei Tumori, Milan; Helena Talbot-Rice of St Christopher's Hospice, London, United Kingdom; Lise Nottelmann of Vejle University Hospital, Vejle, Denmark; Daisy Janssen of Ciro-Horn, the Netherlands; Martin Loučka of the Center for Palliative Care, Prague, Czechia and Vojtěch Kovařovic of UK FTVS, Prague, Czechia.

The WHO Regional Office for Europe also gratefully acknowledges technical inputs from Cathal Morgan, Justine Gosling and Sue Eitel, Health Workforce and Service Delivery Unit, WHO Regional Office for Europe and Pauline Kleinitz, Rehabilitation Programme, WHO headquarters.

Abbreviations

CAT COPD assessment test

CCQ clinical COPD questionnaire

COPD chronic obstructive pulmonary disease

WHO World Health Organization

Background

With ageing populations and increasing morbidity, the number of people globally living with disability and experiencing suffering towards the end of life is set to almost double by 2060 (1). Palliative care improves the quality of life for people with life-limiting illness and those close to them, through the prevention and/or relief of suffering from diagnosis to end of life (1). This is achieved through the timely identification, assessment and treatment of physical, psychosocial or spiritual symptoms and concerns. Each year, an estimated 40 million people worldwide and nearly 5 million people in the European Region need palliative care, yet only about 14% and 35%, respectively, receive it (2, 3).

Suffering in advanced illness is often caused by a decline in function and the related loss of roles and routines, independence and sense of dignity (4-7). Rehabilitation can help address these issues. Rehabilitation within palliative care empowers people with incurable health conditions to actively manage their condition, reduces symptoms and enables individuals to stay independent and socially active. This allows them to enjoy the best possible quality of life, right up to the end of their life (8). Physiotherapists, occupational therapists, dietitians, psychologists, speech and language therapists and other rehabilitation and/or allied health professionals should ideally be included as core members of palliative care teams (8). However, all staff can provide rehabilitation and can be "function-focused" in their approach to care (9).

Rehabilitation in palliative care

The World Health Organization (WHO) defines rehabilitation as a set of interventions designed to optimize functioning and reduce disability in individuals with health conditions in interaction with their environment (10). Fundamentally, rehabilitation supports individuals to reach their fullest potential using a set of measures to achieve and maintain optimal day-to-day functioning (11) and often entails a problem-solving process (12) that is tailored to the individual's priorities, needs and goals (12). Many health conditions result in difficulties in functioning which occur as a result of impairments in body functions (e.g. pain, muscle weakness), limitations in activities (e.g. self-care, walking) and restrictions in participation (e.g. community life, work). Functioning is defined through the WHO International Classification of Functioning, Disability and Health (13).

As treatments improve, people are living longer with life-limiting, disabling multiple long-term conditions and the burden of disease is related to time lived with disability, not just premature death (14). People with advanced disease can have rapidly changing personal and clinical situations. As their health condition deteriorates over time, so too do personal goals and needs change, including those related to their day-to day functioning. Their situation requires regular review (9) and, in many circumstances, rehabilitation helps people to live as comfortably and fully as possible until death (15). Rehabilitation also assists families in their caregiving roles.

1

- muscle strengthening and range of movement exercises;
- positioning for functioning, pain relief, oedema control, prevention of contractures and pressure areas;
- training in activities of daily living and mobility;
- environmental modifications in the home;
- provision and training in the use of assistive products;
- · addressing caregiver and family needs, for example through caregiver training; and
- support for social interaction and participation such as through adapting activities.

The benefits of rehabilitation have been shown among people living with advanced cancer, respiratory disease, cardiac disease, chronic kidney disease, frailty and dementia. These benefits include the following (10, 21-38):

- reduced distress associated with fatigue, breathlessness and pain
- reduced impact of symptoms on daily activities and roles
- maintained or improved physical fitness for functional daily activities
- positive experiences and benefits beyond improvements in physical function)
- · improved psychological well-being, including confidence, security and hope and
- · meaningful social support.

The effectiveness of interventions can be increased by (39-41):

- using goals to personalize interventions
- involving family members and carers)
- skilled communication and
- strong interdisciplinary team-working (sharing skills and tasks across professions).

This policy brief was developed based on current palliative care and rehabilitation literature. Case studies are presented from five European countries that illustrate how rehabilitation can be integrated into palliative care. Most of the evidence on rehabilitation in palliative care comes from studies in high-income countries, where rehabilitation services are well established within health systems. The services are often provided by experienced, highly trained health care professionals, well resourced services and home care that is supported by a culture of formal care. While rehabilitation is predominantly delivered by rehabilitation workers, such as physiotherapists and occupational therapists, many of the interventions for rehabilitation can also be provided by other health workers trained in the delivery of rehabilitation care as part of task-sharing.

2

Opportunities to integrate rehabilitation into palliative care

The concept of universal health coverage highlights that both rehabilitation and palliative care services are available within health care (42, 43). Both should be available across care settings for all people throughout the life course (11, 42). While progress continues to be made on the integration of rehabilitation into areas of care, such as for chronic respiratory disease (30), stroke (44) and cardiac conditions (45), it often remains under-resourced and underdeveloped within palliative care (9).

Integrating rehabilitation into palliative care services can improve access to and quality and efficiency of health care. Integration also has the potential to be a sound financial investment, as it improves a person's health and functioning and can prevent secondary conditions and reduce further palliative care needs. Rehabilitation integrated into palliative care can enable the provision of quality holistic care.

Rehabilitation and palliative care services are traditionally organized around differing but complementary goals for care (46).

- Both rehabilitation and palliative care deliver multiprofessional services, targeting the goals, needs and priorities important to people and their families.
- Palliative care services are organized around the relief of suffering for people living with incurable disease.
- Rehabilitation services are organized around supporting people with health conditions to function in their daily activities and roles.

Rehabilitation and palliative care services increasingly occupy shared spaces in health systems. There is an opportunity to improve access to high-quality function-oriented care for people with life-limiting conditions. This can be achieved through investment in palliative care and rehabilitation services with expanded scope of practice.

- Palliative care services are challenged to give a higher priority to function-oriented care (9), including extending the multiprofessional palliative care team to include rehabilitation specialists (16, 46).
- Rehabilitation services for people with multiple long-term conditions can widen their scope of practice. Interventions are required to help people to manage the impact of disabling symptoms and psychological distress on their daily activities, social participation and quality of life (47).
- Rehabilitation within palliative care should support people during periods of recovery, disease progression and declining physical capability (20, 25, 34, 37, 48, 49).

The possible benefits of integrating rehabilitation into palliative care include (50):

- timely referral to rehabilitation when indicated;
- improved coordination of care through multiprofessional team engagement during assessments, care planning and delivery;
- better attention to the impact of a health condition on a person's day-to-day functioning;
- · more holistic and inclusive approach to the identification of person-centred outcomes;
- improved experiences of quality care for people with advanced illness and their families; and
- potential for efficiencies in health service costs.

Barriers and solutions for better integration of rehabilitation into palliative care

Although the benefits of integrating rehabilitation into palliative care are recognized, there are issues that act as barriers to expanding rehabilitation to people with life-limiting illnesses. These are described in Table 1 below along with evidence-based solutions, working examples of which can be found in the case studies.

Table 1. Barriers to expanding rehabilitation and evidence-based solutions

Barrier (51)

Limited prioritization, planning and resourcing of rehabilitation in health care

Evidence-based solution (16, 52-56)

- Include rehabilitation and function-oriented care in palliative care policy and guidelines
- Prioritize rehabilitation within relevant health planning efforts to ensure it is strengthened and will be available for integration into palliative care
- Develop medical, nurse and rehabilitation and/or allied health professional training curriculums to ensure that the concepts and practices of rehabilitation in palliative care are understood
- Provide training and models of care that support palliative care nurses, community nurses and community health workers in gaining skills and achieving competencies in delivering agreed elements of basic rehabilitation care
- Fund and expand the training for rehabilitation and/ or allied health professionals (undergraduate and postgraduate qualifications)

Barrier (9, 57)

Design and organize palliative care services for the integration of rehabilitation

Evidence-based solution (9, 20, 58-67)

- Systematic screening and referral processes designed to identify functional difficulties in people who can benefit from rehabilitation, to optimize functioning and wellbeing
- Ongoing use of patient reported measures to screen for changes in functioning over time
- Offer services across settings; home, clinical, rural and urban communities, tele-health
- Deliver flexible, needs-based and tailored approaches leading to immediate benefits
- Where existing rehabilitation (e.g. single disease programmes) result in barriers to palliative care, support development of a wider scope of rehabilitation care

Barrier (69, 70)

Low demand from patients due to perceptions that

- medical treatments will reverse functioning difficulties
- rehabilitation is burdensome or time consuming and/or ineffective
- participation is difficult to prioritize during the busy work of living with advanced illness
- rehabilitation is not culturally appropriate when approaching end of life

Evidence-based solution (9, 16, 40, 63, 71,72)

- Develop and disseminate patient education materials to improve patient understanding of the benefits of rehabilitation
- Public messaging on how rehabilitation addresses outcomes important to people
- Involve patients and the public in the design of new rehabilitation services
- Bring rehabilitation services closer to patients to address geographical, transport and time barriers
- Develop tailored goals and rehabilitation programmes that minimize the effort required to participate in rehabilitation
- Support the active involvement of carers in rehabilitation

Barrier (9,73-77)

Knowledge and attitudes of health care funders and health professionals that

- medical treatments will reverse decline in functioning
- the practical difficulties people experience during daily activities are a lower priority
- rehabilitation may not be effective or offer false hope

Evidence-based solution (9, 73-77)

- Disseminate evidence of effectiveness
- Develop online training; inclusion of rehabilitation in medical, nursing, rehabilitation and/or allied health professional and palliative care training programmes

The COVID-19 pandemic has demonstrated that public health emergencies introduce additional barriers to rehabilitation provision in palliative care. Rehabilitation services were among the most disrupted clinical services during the pandemic (78). Established services for people with advanced disease, including in palliative care, were widely affected (59, 61, 79, 80).

Many clinics and resources responded and endeavoured to reduce barriers by moving rehabilitation services online (59, 61). This delivery format may also improve access to palliative rehabilitation for people who previously struggled to access services owing to the constraints of illness, social circumstances and/or geographical location (61). However, online delivery may introduce new inequities in care and disadvantage people unable or unwilling to access digital resources. The ongoing technology requirements and workforce implications should be considered when funding and regulating these models of rehabilitation. Planning for future pandemics should anticipate how rehabilitation services will be adapted and sustained.

Suffering due to life-limiting illness is expected to escalate, with the fastest increases occurring in low-income countries, among older people and among people with dementia. This has led to calls for global action to integrate palliative care into health systems as "an ethical and economic imperative" (81). Efforts to integrate and expand availability of palliative care within health systems also affords the opportunity to integrate rehabilitation.

Policy and programme decision-makers within palliative care should be made aware of key reference documents that can support the integration of rehabilitation into palliative care:

- WHO Rehabilitation in health systems (10);
- World Health Organization: Making fair choices on the path to universal health coverage (UHC) (42);
- Rehabilitation 2030 Initiative and its call for action (82);
- World Health Organization: World report on disability 2011 (83);
- · World report on ageing (84); and
- Global report on assistive technology (85).

Expanding rehabilitation within palliative care will require consideration of local contextual factors. Policy and programme decision-makers should take the particularities of their health system into account to enable provision of effective, sustainable and scalable rehabilitation within palliative care.

Policy and programme recommended actions (76, 77, 82, 86-93):

- Prioritize the integration of rehabilitation into palliative care through national and international consensus statements, policies, and guidelines, and frameworks for clinical practice
- Support health care plans and budgeting for the mobilization of sufficient rehabilitation resources and their efficient use, including in the context of palliative care
- Routinely collect information in health services on rehabilitation availability, quality and utilization, also include information on functioning, and morbidity and mortality, to inform planning
- Extend rehabilitation services according to need, which can relate to complexity of disease and disability, symptoms and concerns and potential to benefit from these services
- Ensure that prequalification education programmes and curriculums for health care professionals address the lack of trained rehabilitation professionals
- Develop professional development courses to enable existing palliative care workers, including nurses and community health workers, to build rehabilitation competencies
- Create practice partnerships and networks to share knowledge and skills that can help speed up implementation of high-quality rehabilitation within palliative care
- Obtain additional evidence on models of rehabilitation in palliative care with research in lowand middle-income countries, building on models that already demonstrate effectiveness
- Develop strategies to address negative perceptions, beliefs and attitudes towards rehabilitation in palliative care, including inclusion of rehabilitation in global quality of care reports
- Ensure that enhancing awareness among policy-makers, health care professionals and members of the public accommodates cultural values and beliefs around palliative care and rehabilitation

Case studies Rehabilitation in palliative care

A centre of expertise for patients with complex chronic lung diseases with integrated rehabilitation care, Ciro, Horn, Netherlands

Ciro serves the whole population of the Netherlands, together with four other centres for pulmonary rehabilitation. People with chronic lung disease are referred to Ciro to attend a course of pulmonary rehabilitation if they have a clinical chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) questionnaire (CCQ) score that is greater than or equal to 1.9 or COPD Assessment Test (CAT) score that is greater than or equal to 18 and two or more exacerbations in the last year or one or more hospital admissions because of their COPD.

Care is provided by a multiprofessional team including respiratory, cardiac and internal medicine physicians, physician assistants, specialist nurses, physiotherapists, occupational therapists, dietitians, psychologists, social workers and art therapists. In addition, a physician of old age medicine and palliative care leads a palliative care team who are integrated within the wider multiprofessional team. This team includes specialist physiotherapists, occupational therapist and psychosocial professionals who have extra training and/or expertise in palliative care. Because the facility has a palliative care team, Ciro can admit people with more severe chronic lung disease. The palliative team facilitates early access to palliative medicine, rehabilitation and psychosocial interventions for people beginning pulmonary rehabilitation with a poorer prognosis. People receiving support from the palliative rehabilitation team follow the standard eight-week pulmonary rehabilitation programme, but focus on functional and well-being outcomes. Additional opportunities are offered, including participation in goal-setting, shared decision-making and advance care planning. Pharmacological and non-pharmacological interventions are provided to help people manage symptoms, such as breathlessness, fatigue and anxiety, that affect their daily activities and their participation in the pulmonary rehabilitation programme. Assistive devices can be provided, including walking aids. These sessions are offered one-to-one or in group settings during the person's inpatient stay. If needed, they can participate in an extended programme, lasting up to 12 weeks, so they have time to achieve their goals and gain benefits.

The palliative team helps people develop plans for future acute episodes and pays extra attention to people's home environment to optimize their well-being following discharge. The physician in old age medicine and palliative care contacts the person's general practitioner prior to discharge and the palliative team liaises with local providers to organize ongoing rehabilitation in the community where indicated.

The palliative team at Ciro provides early access to palliative medicine and rehabilitation in an innovative and accessible service. As hospices in the Netherlands usually provide inpatient services for people in the last three months of life, Ciro provides an opportunity for people living with advanced chronic lung disease to benefit from palliative rehabilitation earlier in their illness. Community-based rehabilitation is usually provided by primary care teams. Currently, palliative rehabilitation for people with advanced chronic lung disease is provided only in specialist centres such as Ciro.

Integrated rehabilitation in outpatient palliative care, Vejle University Hospital, Vejle, Denmark

Community rehabilitation for people with all health conditions is the responsibility of local municipalities in Denmark. These are usually exercise-based services that are open to people with any health condition and are conducted in local centres rather than the person's home.

Prior to 2013, medical and nursing palliative care consultations in Vejle were usually conducted in people's homes after the completion of their oncology treatment. The palliative care teams were aware that, by this time, many people were too unwell to benefit from exercise-based rehabilitation. They also observed that people with advanced cancer undergoing oncology treatment at the hospital were struggling to attend community rehabilitation sessions as well, since they were attending the hospital so frequently for scheduled appointments.

In 2013, a new cancer centre was built in the grounds of the hospital. With a new suite of consultation rooms for outpatient appointments, group meeting rooms and a gymnasium, it provided the opportunity to develop a new, innovative, highly flexible, palliative rehabilitation outpatient service. The model comprises a mandatory basic offer, with optional additional tailored elements. An initial consultation with a palliative care physician and a nurse specialist and a second consultation with the palliative care nurse are offered to all patients. Patients can then opt to participate in a 12-week educational group programme led by members of the wider multiprofessional team, including physiotherapists, nurses, occupational therapists, dietitians, social workers, chaplains and psychologists. Sessions are provided for both patients and their caregivers and cover the management of common symptoms, sleep, rest and relaxation, maintaining nutrition and coping with living with the illness and treatment, as well as psychological and emotional concerns. After each educational session, patients are offered individually tailored physical exercise in groups. Tailored sessions with any member of the multiprofessional team are also offered on a one-to-one basis in the outpatient centre. Following the 12-week programme, people whose palliative care needs have been addressed are discharged, with the option for referral back to the service in the future. Those with ongoing rehabilitation needs are referred on to the community rehabilitation services.

A randomized controlled trial conducted between 2014 and 2017 found that this new model of palliative rehabilitation was effective in improving quality of life and emotional functioning (20).

A cancer centre with a steadily expanding rehabilitation team, Fondazione IRCCS Istituto Nazionale dei Tumori, Milan, Italy

The Fondazione IRCCS Istituto Nazionale dei Tumori, established in 1928, is a comprehensive cancer centre providing cancer therapy and care from diagnosis with multidisciplinary antineoplastic treatments including palliative care and rehabilitation for both adults and children. The institute is a national referral centre for Italy. Since the 1970s, rehabilitation was associated with the palliative care and pain therapy services providing support for people receiving cancer surgery or oncology treatment at any stage of cancer, as either inpatients or outpatients. Today the department includes physical medicine and rehabilitation specialists, palliative medicine specialists, neurologists, physiotherapists, psychometrists and palliative-care nurses. Psychologists are also available on demand. Hospice beds are available for patients at the end of life.

In the early days, the team focused mostly on pain management and motor and respiratory rehabilitation for people receiving surgery and oncology treatments. Over the years, a greater focus was placed on the care of people with advanced disease approaching the end of life, and a multiprofessional palliative care approach was developed. The rehabilitation team now includes two physical medicine and rehabilitation specialists, 15 physiotherapists – two of them dedicated to palliative rehabilitation in the hospice – and one psychometrist who treats paediatric patients. Palliative rehabilitation interventions provided by the physiotherapists include lymphoedema management, mobility training, provision of walking aids and prescription of physical and respiratory exercises where indicated. The physiotherapists also support patients and their caregivers in functional activities to improve their quality of life.

Rehabilitation is provided for inpatients and outpatients. Connections with local palliative and rehabilitation services are improving, which facilitates ongoing provision of palliative care and rehabilitation after the persons are discharged home. Occupational therapy services are underdeveloped in Italian cancer services and currently there are no occupational therapists at the institute. Occupational therapy is an additional area that the palliative care, pain therapy and rehabilitation team is hoping to develop in the future, to improve and extend the care they provide for people with advanced cancer receiving palliative care at the institute.

Building rehabilitation into palliative care services in Czechia

The provision of specialist palliative care in Czechia is growing more quickly, with European indices showing intermediate levels of integration within the wider health system. However, provision of integrated physiotherapy and other professions delivering rehabilitation within palliative care services is lagging behind.

Currently, there are only a few physiotherapists working as core team members in hospital or hospice palliative care services. People receiving palliative care in hospital settings may be provided with physiotherapy from other specialities. They are more likely to obtain access to physiotherapy if clinicians in their palliative care team know a physiotherapist personally.

As a profession, physiotherapists understand that their interventions may provide valuable support for people living with serious illness, and palliative care teams and patients want rehabilitation. But there are no national referral criteria, guidelines or resources to indicate the persons who may benefit from physiotherapy provision, and this limits that provision. In addition, there is uncertainty about potential benefits and harms. Clinicians may underestimate the possible benefits, such as improved independence in mobility and daily activities, and may have a perception that physiotherapy may harm patients, for example, through provision of harmful vigorous exercise. A lack of detailed guidelines and educational resources published in the Czech language contributes to this uncertainty.

The lack of a formal curriculum for education and training in qualifying health care professional programmes on the provision of rehabilitation and physiotherapy in palliative care services limits the development of professional competency frameworks.

Both inpatient hospice services and home care palliative services are required to have specified levels of staffing, including a physician on the staff team, if they are to get funding from the national insurance scheme. The focus is on end-of-life care, and the inclusion of physiotherapy in the multiprofessional team is not currently a requirement for funding. This situation is exacerbated by a national shortage of physiotherapists within the health system.

Community paediatric hospices are more likely to employ physiotherapists, but the service they provide is likewise constrained by a lack of guidance and systematic provision. Occupational therapy services are better developed.

Nationally, conversations are taking place between palliative care providers, physiotherapists with an interest in palliative care and policy-makers to advance the integration of physiotherapy in palliative care services but, to date, no guidelines have been developed. Policy and clinical guidelines are urgently needed, supported by professional development programmes and the provision of undergraduate/preregistration education modules.

A palliative care centre with inpatient, outpatient and home-based specialist rehabilitative care, St Christopher's Hospice, London, United Kingdom

In terms of the allied health professional workforce and the provision of rehabilitation, St Christopher's Hospice provided physiotherapy and occupational therapy from its early days. Speech and language therapy and dietetics came later, initially under service-level agreements with local health care providers and later, from 2019 onwards, by professionals employed directly by the hospice.

Around 2008, a modern ground-floor gymnasium was built and classes were introduced, with an emphasis on group exercise circuits and other nonpharmacological interventions for people approaching the end of life, including a fatigue and breathlessness group (later developed into a holistic breathlessness management service (21)). The recognition of the allied health professionals as the "rehabilitation team" came in 2013, alongside a drive to articulate and promote rehabilitation and make it central in the services offered by the multiprofessional team at St Christopher's Hospice.

A living-well-at-home team was established within the rehabilitation team in 2016. This service used volunteers to help deliver community-based palliative rehabilitation to people in their own homes, for people previously not able to access rehabilitation at the hospice sites.

In 2018, the rehabilitation service became the Rehabilitation and Wellbeing team. This superseded day care, day support and day hospice services, moving towards an innovative model of goal-focused therapeutic outpatient services. This shift has increased the use of time-limited interventions and signposts people back out to local community services and support where available. Following discharge, people can self-refer again to services if they have new needs that meet the hospice referral criteria. This model of working benefits from the added support of a community action team and the compassionate neighbour movement. Most recently, psychosocial services came under the Rehabilitation and Wellbeing team — including social work, cognitive behavioural therapy, art and music therapy, psychotherapy and welfare support.

References

- 1. National cancer control programmes: policies and managerial guidelines. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2002 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/42494, accessed 30 June 2022).
- 2. Palliative care fact sheet. In: World Health Organization [website]. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020 (https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/palliative-care, accessed 27 June 2022).
- 3. Knaul FM, Farmer PE, Krakauer EL, De Lima L, Bhadelia A, Jiang Kwete X et al. Alleviating the access abyss in palliative care and pain relief an imperative of universal health coverage: the Lancet Commission report. Lancet. 2018;391(10128):1391–454.
- 4. Michalovic E, Sweet SN, Jensen D. Research and healthcare priorities of individuals living with COPD. COPD. 2021;18(2):133–46. doi:10.1080/15412555.2021.1901271.
- 5. Salander P, Lilliehorn S. To carry on as before: a meta-synthesis of qualitative studies in lung cancer. Lung Cancer. 2016;99:88–93.
- 6. Duck A, Spencer LG, Bailey S, Leonard C, Ormes J, Caress AL. Perceptions, experiences and needs of patients with idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. J Adv Nurs. 2015;71(5):1055–65. doi:10.1111/jan.12587.
- 7. Kimani KN, Murray SA, Grant L. Multidimensional needs of patients living and dying with heart failure in Kenya: a serial interview study. BMC Palliative Care. 2018;17(1):28.
- 8. Montagnini M, Javier NM, Mitchinson A. The role of rehabilitation in patients receiving hospice and palliative care. Rehabil Oncol. 2020;38(1):9–21. doi:10.1097/01.reo.000000000000196.
- 9. Cheville AL, Morrow M, Smith SR, Basford JR. Integrating function-directed treatments into palliative care. PM R. 2017;9(9s2):S335–46.
- 10. Rehabilitation in health systems. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2017 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/254506, accessed 4 December 2022). Licence: CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO.
- 11. Rehabilitation. In: World Health Organization [website]. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2022 (https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/rehabilitation, accessed 27 June 2022).
- 12. Wade DT. What is rehabilitation? An empirical investigation leading to an evidence-based description. Clin Rehabil. 2020;34(5):571-83. doi:10.1177/0269215520905112.
- 13. International Classification of Functioning, Disability and Health (ICF). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2022 (https://www.who.int/standards/classifications/international-classification-of-functioning-disability-and-health, accessed 4 December 2022).
- 14. Stucki G, Bickenbach J, Gutenbrunner C, Melvin JL. Rehabilitation: the health strategy of the 21st century. J Rehabil Med. 2018;50(4):309–16. doi:10.2340/16501977–2200.
- 15. Radbruch L, De Lima L, Knaul F, Wenk R, Ali Z, Bhatnaghar S et al. Redefining palliative care a new consensus-based definition. J Pain Symptom Manage. 2020;60(4):754–64. doi:10.1016/j. jpainsymman.2020.04.027.
- 16. Chowdhury RA, Brennan FP, Gardiner MD. Cancer rehabilitation and palliative care exploring the synergies. J Pain Symptom Manage. 2020;60(6):1239–52. doi:10.1016/j.jpainsymman.2020.07.030.
- 17. Morgan DD, Marston C, Garner J, Currow DC. Subacute rehabilitation does have benefits for patients with advanced cancer. J Pain Symptom Manage. 2018;55(1):e1-e2. doi:10.1016/j.jpainsymman.2017.10.012.
- 18. Anderson L, Sharp GA, Norton RJ, Dalal H, Dean SG, Jolly K et al. Home-based versus centre-based cardiac rehabilitation. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2017;6:CD007130. doi:10.1002/14651858.CD007130. pub4.

- 19. Cox NS, Dal Corso S, Hansen H, McDonald CF, Hill CJ, Zanaboni P et al. Telerehabilitation for chronic respiratory disease. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2021;1:CD013040. doi:10.1002/14651858.CD013040. pub2.
- 20. Nottelmann L, Groenvold M, Vejlgaard TB, Petersen MA, Jensen LH. Early, integrated palliative rehabilitation improves quality of life of patients with newly diagnosed advanced cancer: the Pal-Rehab randomized controlled trial. Palliat Med. 2021;35(7):1344–55. doi:10.1177/02692163211015574.
- 21. Chasen MR, Feldstain A, Gravelle D, Macdonald N, Pereira J. An interprofessional palliative care oncology rehabilitation program: effects on function and predictors of program completion. Curr Oncol. 2013;20(6):301–9.
- 22. Dittus KL, Gramling RE, Ades PA. Exercise interventions for individuals with advanced cancer: A systematic review. Prev Med. 2017;104:124–32.
- 23. Pyszora A, Budzyński J, Wójcik A, Prokop A, Krajnik M. Physiotherapy programme reduces fatigue in patients with advanced cancer receiving palliative care: randomized controlled trial. Support Care Cancer. 2017;25(9):2899–908.
- 24. Chapman EJ, Martino ED, Edwards Z, Black K, Maddocks M, Bennett MI. Practice review: evidence-based and effective management of fatigue in patients with advanced cancer. Palliat Med. 2022;36(1):7–14. doi:10.1177/02692163211046754.
- 25. Brighton LJ, Miller S, Farquhar M, Booth S, Yi D, Gao W et al. Holistic services for people with advanced disease and chronic breathlessness: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Thorax. 2019;74(3):270–81. doi:10.1136/thoraxjnl-2018-211589.
- 26. Chan CW, Richardson A, Richardson J. Managing symptoms in patients with advanced lung cancer during radiotherapy: results of a psychoeducational randomized controlled trial. J Pain Symptom Manage. 2011;41(2):347–57. doi:10.1016/j.jpainsymman.2010.04.024.
- 27. Chapman EJ, Edwards Z, Boland JW, Maddocks M, Fette L, Malia C et al. Practice review: evidence-based and effective management of pain in patients with advanced cancer. Pall Med. 2020;34(4):444–53. doi:10.1177/0269216319896955.
- 28. Hall AJ, Febrey S, Goodwin VA. Physical interventions for people with more advanced dementia a scoping review. BMC Geriatr. 2021;21(1):675. doi:10.1186/s12877-021-02577-0.
- 29. Spathis A, Booth S, Moffat C, Hurst R, Ryan R, Chin C et al. The Breathing, Thinking, Functioning clinical model: a proposal to facilitate evidence-based breathlessness management in chronic respiratory disease. NPJ Prim Care Respir Med. 2017;27(1):1–6. doi:10.1038/s41533-017-0024-z.
- 30. Puhan MA, Gimeno-Santos E, Cates CJ, Troosters T. Pulmonary rehabilitation following exacerbations of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2016;12:CD005305. doi:10.1002/14651858.CD005305.pub4.
- 31. Taylor RS, Long L, Mordi IR, Madsen MT, Davies EJ, Dalal H et al. Exercise-based rehabilitation for heart failure: Cochrane systematic review, meta-analysis, and trial sequential analysis. JACC Heart Fail. 2019;7(8):691–705. doi:10.1016/j.jchf.2019.04.023.
- 32. Nixon AC, Bampouras TM, Gooch HJ, Young HML, Finlayson KW, Pendleton N et al. Home-based exercise for people living with frailty and chronic kidney disease: a mixed-methods pilot randomised controlled trial. PLoS One. 2021;16(7):e0251652. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0251652.
- 33. Gulde I, Oldervoll LM, Martin C. Palliative cancer patients' experience of physical activity. J Palliat Care. 2011;27(4):296–302.
- 34. Nottelmann L, Jensen LH, Vejlgaard TB, Groenvold M. A new model of early, integrated palliative care: palliative rehabilitation for newly diagnosed patients with non-resectable cancer. Support Care Cancer. 2019;27(9):3291–300.

- 35. Turner K, Tookman A, Bristowe K, Maddocks M. 'I am actually doing something to keep well. That feels really good': experiences of exercise within hospice care. Prog Palliat Care. 2016;24(4):204–12. doi:10.1080/09699260.2015.1123441.
- 36. Paltiel H, Solvoll E, Loge JH, Kaasa S, Oldervoll L. "The healthy me appears": palliative cancer patients' experiences of participation in a physical group exercise program. Palliat Support Care. 2009;7(4):459–67. doi:10.1017/S1478951509990460.
- 37. Rutkowski NA, Lebel S, Richardson K, Mutsaers B, Chasen M, Feldstain A. A little help from my friends: social support in palliative rehabilitation. Curr Oncol. 2018;25(6):358–65. doi:10.3747/co.25.4050.
- 38. Bradshaw A, Walker L, Borgstrom E, Burke SM. Group-based Tai Chi as therapy for alleviating experiences of social death in people with advanced, incurable disease: an ethnographic study. Qual Res Sport Exerc Health. 2022(14):1–17. doi:10.1080/2159676X.2021.1879918.
- 39. Levack WM, Weatherall M, Hay-Smith EJ, Dean SG, McPherson K, Siegert RJ. Goal setting and strategies to enhance goal pursuit for adults with acquired disability participating in rehabilitation. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2015(7):CD009727. doi:10.1002/14651858.CD009727.pub2.
- 40. Brighton LJ, Tunnard I, Farquhar M, Booth S, Miller S, Yi D et al. Recommendations for services for people living with chronic breathlessness in advanced disease: results of a transparent expert consultation. Chron Respir Dis. 2019;16:1479973118816448.
- 41. Cheville AL, Moynihan T, Herrin J, Loprinzi C, Kroenke K. Effect of collaborative telerehabilitation on functional impairment and pain among patients with advanced-stage cancer: a randomized clinical trial. JAMA Oncol. 2019;5(5):644–52. doi:10.1001/jamaoncol.2019.0011.
- 42. Making fair choices on the path to universal health coverage: final report of the WHO consultative group on equity and universal health coverage. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2014 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/112671, accessed 17 January 2023).
- 43. Universal health coverage. In: World Health Organization [website]. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2022 (https://www.who.int/health-topics/universal-health-coverage#tab=tab_1, accessed 4 December 2022).
- 44. Fryer CE, Luker JA, McDonnell MN, Hillier SL. Self management programmes for quality of life in people with stroke. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2016;8:CD010442.
- 45. Anderson L, Oldridge N, Thompson DR, Zwisler A-D, Rees K, Martin N et al. Exercise-based cardiac rehabilitation for coronary heart disease: Cochrane systematic review and meta-analysis. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2016;67(1):1–12. doi:10.1016/j.jacc.2015.10.044.
- 46. Hui D, Hannon BL, Zimmermann C, Bruera E. Improving patient and caregiver outcomes in oncology: team-based, timely, and targeted palliative care. CA Cancer J Clin. 2018;68(5):356–76.
- 47. Timm H, Thuesen J, Clark D. Rehabilitation and palliative care: histories, dialectics and challenges. Wellcome Open Res. 2021;6(171):171.
- 48. Eva G, Morgan D. Mapping the scope of occupational therapy practice in palliative care: a European Association for Palliative Care cross-sectional survey. Palliat Med. 2018;32(5):960–8.
- 49. Chasen M, Bhargava R, MacDonald N. Rehabilitation for patients with advanced cancer. CMAJ. 2014;186(14):1071–5. doi:10.1503/cmaj.131402.
- 50. Thuesen J, Mikkelsen TB, Timm HU. Koordinering af rehabilitering og palliation til mennesker med livstruende sygdom [Coordination of rehabilitation and palliation for people with life-threatening illness]. Nyborg: REHPA, The Danish Knowledge Centre for Rehabilitation and Palliative Care; 2016.
- 51. Hui D, Cherny NI, Wu J, Liu D, Latino NJ, Strasser F. Indicators of integration at ESMO Designated Centres of Integrated Oncology and Palliative Care. ESMO Open. 2018;3(5):e000372.
- 52. Silver JK. Integrating rehabilitation into the cancer care continuum. PM R. 2017;9(9 Suppl 2):S291-6.

- 53. MacRae MC, Fazal O, O'Donovan J. Community health workers in palliative care provision in low-income and middle-income countries: a systematic scoping review of the literature. BMJ Global Health. 2020; 5(5):e002368.
- 54. Wang GH, Nesbit C, Rankin S. Voices of home-based palliative care community health workers in rural Malawi: a mixed methods study on factors affecting role and sustainability. Progress in Palliative Care. 2020;28(6):346–53.
- 55. Munday D, Kanth V, Khristi S, Grant L. Integrated management of non-communicable diseases in low-income settings: palliative care, primary care and community health synergies. BMJ Supportive and Palliative Care. 2019;9(4):e32-e.
- 56. Jesus TS, Hoenig H. Crossing the global quality chasm in health care: where does rehabilitation stand? Arch Phys Med Rehabil. 2019;100(11):2215–7. doi:0.1016/j.apmr.2019.07.001.
- 57. Bayly J, Bone AE, Ellis-Smith C, et al. Common elements of service delivery models that optimise quality of life and health service use among older people with advanced progressive conditions: a tertiary systematic review. BMJ Open 2021; 11(12): e048417.
- 58. Maddocks M, Lovell N, Booth S, Man WD, Higginson IJ. Palliative care and management of troublesome symptoms for people with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Lancet. 2017;390(10098):988–1002. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(17)32127-X.
- 59. Dalal HM, Doherty P, McDonagh ST, Paul K, Taylor RS. Virtual and in-person cardiac rehabilitation. BMJ. 2021;373:n1270 (https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.n1270, accessed 30 June 2022).
- 60. Buckingham SA, Taylor RS, Jolly K, Zawada K, Dean SG, Cowie A et al. Home-based versus centre-based cardiac rehabilitation: abridged Cochrane systematic review and meta-analysis. Open Heart. 2016;3(2):e000463. doi:10.1136/openhrt-2016-000463.
- 61. Bayly J, Bradshaw A, Fettes L, Omarjee M, Talbot-Rice H, Walshe C et al. Understanding the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic on delivery of rehabilitation in specialist palliative care services: an analysis of the CovPall-Rehab survey data. medRxiv. 2021 (https://doi.org/10.1101/2021.04.13.21255380, accessed 30 June 2022).
- 62. Bayly J, Fettes L, Douglas E, Teixeira MJ, Peat N, Tunnard I et al. Short-term integrated rehabilitation for people with newly diagnosed thoracic cancer: a multi-centre randomized controlled feasibility trial. Clin Rehabil. 2020;34(2):205–19 (https://doi.org/10.1177/0269215519888794, accessed 30 June 2022).
- 63. Bayly J, Edwards BM, Peat N, Warwick G, Hennig IM, Arora A et al. Developing an integrated rehabilitation model for thoracic cancer services: views of patients, informal carers and clinicians. Pilot Feasibility Stud. 2018;4:160 (https://doi.org/10.1186/s40814-018-0350-0, accessed 30 June 2022).
- 64. Cowie A, Good K, McKay J, Holt J. Tackling multimorbidity: staff perceptions of the transition from single-condition rehabilitation to a specialist-generalist model. Int J Ther Rehabil. 2021;28(8):1–10 (https://doi.org/10.12968/ijtr.2020.0062, accessed 30 June 2022).
- 65. Taylor RS, Singh S. Personalised rehabilitation for cardiac and pulmonary patients with multimorbidity: time for implementation? Eur J Prev Cardiol. 2020:2047487320926058. doi:10.1177/2047487320926058.
- 66. van Dam van Isselt EF, Spruit-van Eijk M, Chavannes NH, Achterberg WP, Groenewegen-Sipkema KH. Geriatric rehabilitation for patients with advanced COPD: programme characteristics and case studies. Int J Palliat Nurs. 2013;19(3):141–6. doi:10.12968/ijpn.2013.19.3.141.
- 67. Jones AV, Evans RA, Esliger DW, Sherar LB, Singh SJ. Protocol for a feasibility trial to inform the development of a breathlessness rehabilitation programme for chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and chronic heart failure (the COHERE trial). BMJ Open. 2019;9(7):e029387.
- 68. Barker RE, Brighton LJ, Maddocks M, Nolan CM, Patel S, Walsh JA et al. Integrating home-based exercise training with a hospital at home service for patients hospitalised with acute exacerbations of COPD: developing the model using accelerated experience-based co-design. Int J Chron Obstruct Pulmon Dis. 2021;16:1035–49.

- 69. Cheville AL, Rhudy L, Basford JR, Griffin JM, Flores AM. How receptive are patients with late stage cancer to rehabilitation services and what are the sources of their resistance? Arch Phys Med Rehabil. 2017;98(2):203–10. doi:10.1016/j.apmr.2016.08.459.
- 70. Granger CL, Connolly B, Denehy L, Hart N, Antippa P, Lin K-Y et al. Understanding factors influencing physical activity and exercise in lung cancer: a systematic review. Support Care Cancer. 2017;25(3): 983–99. doi:10.1007/s00520-016-3484-8.
- 71. May CR, Eton DT, Boehmer K, Gallacher K, Hunt K, MacDonald S et al. Rethinking the patient: using burden of treatment theory to understand the changing dynamics of illness. BMC Health Serv Res. 2014;14(1): 1–11. doi:10.1186/1472-6963-14-281.
- 72. Farquhar MC, Prevost AT, McCrone P, Brafman-Price B, Bentley A, Higginson IJ et al. Is a specialist breathlessness service more effective and cost-effective for patients with advanced cancer and their carers than standard care? Findings of a mixed-method randomised controlled trial. BMC Med. 2014;12(1). doi:10.1186/s12916-014-0194-2.
- 73. Fettes L, Bayly J, de Bruin LM, Patel M, Ashford S, Higginson IJ et al. Relationships between prolonged physical and social isolation during the COVID-19 pandemic, reduced physical activity and disability in activities of daily living among people with advanced respiratory disease. Chron Respir Dis. 2021;18:14799731211035822. doi:10.1177/14799731211035822.
- 74. Neo J, Fettes L, Gao W, Higginson IJ, Maddocks M. Disability in activities of daily living among adults with cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Cancer Treat Rev. 2017;61:94–106. doi:10.1016/j.ctrv.2017.10.006.
- 75. Granger CL, Denehy L, Remedios L, Retica S, Phongpagdi P, Hart N et al. Barriers to translation of physical activity into the lung cancer model of care. a qualitative study of clinicians' perspectives. Ann Am Thorac Soc. 2016;13(12):2215–22. doi:10.1513/AnnalsATS.201607-5400C.
- 76. Runacres F, Gregory H, Ugalde A. 'The horse has bolted I suspect': a qualitative study of clinicians' attitudes and perceptions regarding palliative rehabilitation. Palliat Med. 2017;31(7):642–50. doi:10.1177/0269216316670288.
- 77. Harding Z, Hall C, Lloyd A. Rehabilitation in palliative care: a qualitative study of team professionals. BMJ Support Palliat Care. 2019;2(e1):e28–e38. doi:10.1136/bmjspcare-2019-002008.
- 78. The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on noncommunicable disease resources and services: results of a rapid assessment. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/334136, accessed 30 June 2022). Licence: CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO.
- 79. Phillips M, Turner-Stokes L, Wade D, Walton K. Rehabilitation in the wake of Covid-19 a phoenix from the ashes. London: British Society of Rehabilitation Medicine; 2020 (https://www.bsrm.org.uk/downloads/covid-19bsrmissue1-published-27-4-2020.pdf, accessed 30 June 2022).
- 80. Negrini F, Malfitano C, Bertoni M, Facchi E, Ferriero G, Galeri S et al. The impact of COVID-19 on rehabilitation and proposal for a new organization: a report from Lombardy, Italy. J Int Soc Phys Rehabil Med. 2021;4(1):1. doi:10.4103/JISPRM-000108.
- 81. Sleeman KE, De Brito M, Etkind S, Nkhoma K, Guo P, Higginson IJ et al. The escalating global burden of serious health-related suffering: projections to 2060 by world regions, age groups, and health conditions. Lancet Glob Health. 2019;7(7):e883–92. doi:10.1016/S2214-109X(19)30172-X.
- 82. Rehabilitation 2030: a call for action. Concept note. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2013 (https://www.who.int/publications/m/item/rehabilitation-2030-a-call-for-action, accessed 30 June 2022).
- 83. Bickenbach J. The world report on disability. Disabil Soc. 2011;26(5):655–8. doi:10.1080/09687599.2011.589198.

- 84. World report on ageing and health. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2015 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/186463, accessed 30 June 2022).
- 85. Global report on assistive technology. Geneva: World Health Organization and United Nations Children's Fund; 2022 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/354357, accessed 30 June 2022). Licence: CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO.
- 86. Abu-Odah H, Molassiotis A, Liu J. Challenges on the provision of palliative care for patients with cancer in low-and middle-income countries: a systematic review of reviews. BMC Palliat Care. 2020;19(1):1–16 (https://doi.org/10.1186/s12904-020-00558-5, accessed 30 June 2022).
- 87. Jesus T, Papadimitriou C, Bright F, Kayes N, Cott C. What person-centered rehabilitation means in concept and practice: the person-centered rehabilitation model for adult physical rehabilitation derived from a scoping review and thematic synthesis. Arch Phys Med Rehabil. 2021;102(10):e116 (https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apmr.2021.07.465, accessed 30 June 2022).
- 88. Gimigliano F, Negrini S. The World Health Organization "Rehabilitation 2030: a call for action". Eur J Phys Rehabil Med. 2017;53(2):155–68. doi:10.23736/S1973-9087.17.04746-3.
- 89. Heinemann AW, Feuerstein M, Frontera WR, Gard SA, Kaminsky LA, Negrini S et al. Rehabilitation is a global health priority. Los Angeles, CA: SAGE Publications Sage CA; 2020:89–90.
- 90. Bickenbach J, Sabariego C, Stucki G. Beneficiaries of rehabilitation. Arch Phys Med Rehabil. 2021;102(3):543–8. doi:10.1016/j.apmr.2020.09.392.
- 91. Basu A, Mittag-Leffler BN, Miller K. Palliative care in low-and medium-resource countries. Cancer J. 2013;19(5):410–3. doi:10.1097/01.PP0.0000434392.18811.3c.
- 92. Harding R, Namisango E, Radbruch L, Katabira ET. How to establish successful research partnerships in global health palliative care. J Pain Symptom Manage. 2017;53(2):e3-e4. doi:10.1016/j. jpainsymman.2016.10.355.
- 93. Bauman J, El-Jawahri A. One size does not fit all: the need for population-specific palliative care interventions. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2021;113(11):1449–50. doi:10.1093/jnci/djab021.

The WHO Regional Office for Europe

The World Health Organization (WHO) is a specialized agency of the United Nations created in 1948 with the primary responsibility for international health matters and public health. The WHO Regional Office for Europe is one of six regional offices throughout the world, each with its own programme geared to the particular health conditions of the countries it serves.

Member States

Albania

Andorra

Armenia

Austria

Azerbaijar

Belarus

Belaium

Bosnia and Herzegovina

Bulgaria

Croatia

Cyprus

Czechia

Denmar

Estonia

Finland

France

Georgia

Germany

Greece

Hungary

iceland

ireiand

Italy

Kazakhstar

Kyrgyzstan

Latvia

Lithuania

Luxembourg

Malta

Monacc

Montenegro

Netherlands

North Macedonia

Norway

Poland

Portugal

Republic of Moldova

Romania

Russian Federation

San Marino

Serbia

Slovakia

Siovenia

Cwodon

Switzerland

Taiikistan

Türkiye

Turkmenistan

Ukraine

United Kingdom

Uzbekistar

WHO/EURO:2023-5825-45590-68173

World Health Organization Regional Office for Europe

UN City, Marmorvej 51,

DK-2100 Copenhagen Ø, Denmark

Tel.: +45 45 33 70 00 Fax: +45 45 33 70 01

Email: eurocontact@who.int Website: www.who.int/europe